
Health & Wellbeing Board 
 

Agenda 
 

Tuesday 20 February 2018 
6pm 

Courtyard Room - Hammersmith Town Hall 
 

MEMBERSHIP 
 

 

Vanessa Andreae - H&F Clinical Commissioning Group  
Councillor Ben Coleman - Cabinet Member for Health and Adult Social Care (Chair)  
Janet Cree - H&F Clinical Commissioning Group  
Councillor Sue Macmillan - Cabinet Member for Children and Education 
Keith Mallinson - Healthwatch Representative  
Steve Miley, Director for Family Services  
Lisa Redfern - Director of Adult Social Care 
Dr Tim Spicer - H&F Clinical Commissioning Group (Vice-Chair)  
Ian Lawry – SOBUS (Co-Opted Member) 
 
Nominated Deputy Members: 
 
Councillor Rory Vaughan 
Councillor Sharon Holder  
 
 

 
CONTACT OFFICER: Bathsheba Mall 

Committee Co-ordinator 
Governance and Scrutiny 

 : 020 8753 5758 
 E-mail: bathsheba.mall@lbhf.gov.uk 
 
Reports on the open agenda are available on the Council’s website: 
http://www.lbhf.gov.uk/Directory/Council_and_Democracy 
 
Members of the public are welcome to attend. A loop system for hearing impairment 
is provided, along with disabled access to the building. 
 

Date Issued: 20 February 2018 
 
 

 
London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 

http://www.lbhf.gov.uk/Directory/Council_and_Democracy/Committee_reports_minutes_and_agendas/Current_Committees/Homepage.asp
http://www.lbhf.gov.uk/Directory/Council_and_Democracy


London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

Health & Wellbeing Board 
Agenda 

 
20 February 2018 

 

 
Item  Pages 

1.   MINUTES AND ACTIONS  1 - 6 

 (a) To approve as an accurate record and the Chair to sign the 
minutes of the meeting of the Health & Wellbeing Board held on 
Tuesday, 21 November 2017. 

 
(b) To note the outstanding actions. 

 

 

2.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 

 

3.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 

 

 If a Member of the Board, or any other member present in the meeting 
has a disclosable pecuniary interest in a particular item, whether or not it 
is entered in the Authority’s register of interests, or any other significant 
interest which they consider should be declared in the public interest, 
they should declare the existence and, unless it is a sensitive interest as 
defined in the Member Code of Conduct, the nature of the interest at the 
commencement of the consideration of that item or as soon as it 
becomes apparent. 
 
At meetings where members of the public are allowed to be in 
attendance and speak, any Member with a disclosable pecuniary 
interest or other significant interest may also make representations, give 
evidence or answer questions about the matter.  The Member must then 
withdraw immediately from the meeting before the matter is discussed 
and any vote taken.  
 
Where members of the public are not allowed to be in attendance and 
speak, then the Member with a disclosable pecuniary interest should 
withdraw from the meeting whilst the matter is under consideration. 
Members who have declared other significant interests should also 
withdraw from the meeting if they consider their continued participation 
in the matter would not be reasonable in the circumstances and may 
give rise to a perception of a conflict of interest. 
 
Members are not obliged to withdraw from the meeting where a 
dispensation to that effect has been obtained from the Audit, Pensions 
and Standards Committee.   

 



4.   TACKLING SOCIAL ISOLATION AND LONELINESS  
 

7 - 12 

 The paper proposes a two-step plan for developing a strategy and 
action plan to address social isolation and loneliness in the Borough.  
This includes (1) conducting a range of interviews with stakeholders 
based around three questions; (2) a facilitated workshop with 
stakeholders in March to agree the plan. 
 

 

5.   MEETING THE HEALTH AND WELLBEING NEEDS OF ROUGH 
SLEEPERS  
 

13 - 34 

 The purpose of the item is to facilitate a discussion about the health 
(and wellbeing) needs of rough sleepers and how those needs can be 
better met by better/more joined up ways of working.   
 

 

6.   DATES OF NEXT MEETING  
 

 

 The Board is asked to note that the next date of the next meeting, which 
is scheduled for Wednesday, 21st March 2018. 

 

 



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

.   London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 

Health & Wellbeing 
Board 
Minutes 

 

Tuesday 21 November 2017 
 

 
 

 

 
 

PRESENT 
 
Committee members: Councillors Ben Coleman (Chair) and Sue Macmillan,  
Vanessa Andreae, H&F CCG 
Janet Cree, H&F CCG 
Ian Lowry, Chief Executive, Sobus 
Keith Mallinson, H&F Healthwatch Representative  
Steve Miley, Director of Family Services 
 
Nominated Deputies - Councillors:  
Sharon Holder and Rory Vaughan 
 
Nominated Officer Representatives:  
Mike Boyle, Director for Strategic Commissioning and Enterprise (for Lisa Redfern, 
Director of Adult Social Services) 
 
Officers: Helen Banham, ASC Strategic Lead for Professional Standards and 
Safeguarding; Fawad Bhatti, Policy and Strategy Officer; Colin Brodie, Knowledge 
Manager, Public Health; Gaynor Driscoll, Head of Commissioning Adults Public 
Health; and Ashlee Mulimba, Director of Healthy Dialogue 

 
120. MINUTES AND ACTIONS  

 
The minutes of the previous meeting held on 13th September 2017 were 
agreed as an accurate record.  
 

121. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Dr Tim Spicer, H&F CCG (Vice-
chair) and Lisa Redfern, Director of Adult Social Services. 
 

122. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interests.   
 

123. DEVELOPING A SHARED SOCIAL ISOLATION AND LONELINESS PLAN  
 
Councillor Ben Coleman welcomed members of the public seated in the 
audience, most of whom represented a range of local community groups.  

Page 1

Agenda Item 1



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

Introducing the report, Councillor Coleman explained that its purpose was to 
to facilitate a discussion and collaborative approach in developing a strategy; 
addressing social isolation and loneliness within the Borough.   
 
Gaynor Driscoll briefly highlighted several key elements which included the 
need to define social isolation and loneliness (SIL).  It was explained that SIL 
could affect young and old, new mothers, the recently bereaved and early 
retirees, and was also influenced by any combination of personal factors.  
What was required was the proactive involvement of the local community in 
helping to alleviate SIL.   
 
Referring to anticipated Census data for 2021, social disadvantage and 
poverty indices in the North of the Borough expected to be high.  This, 
together with a more transient population, was associated with the disruption 
of social ties or community networks, and hence a greater risk of a loss of 
informal social control.  Developing strong bonds and community cohesion 
was a primary element in addressing SIL. With a high percentage of residents 
aged +50 living alone in the Borough, it was important to understand the need 
for a multi-generational approach.  To illustrate, simple, low cost solutions 
included adapting the urban streetscape to ensure that there was adequate 
seating, where needed.   
 
Bryan Naylor, from Age UK, seated in the audience, observed that SIL was a 
both a local and national problem with no easy or quick solution.  He was 
keen to see strategic outcomes.   
 
Dr Kellie Payne, Research and Policy Manager, Campaign to End Loneliness 
briefly provided details about the work of the organisation.  Highlighting the 
work of Jo Cox, MP to develop a National Commission on Loneliness, the 
difficulties faced by young mothers and the, combined risk factors affecting 
older people, there was agreement that SIL required a national and 
community based solution.   
 
A member of the public observed that it would be helpful to have a breakdown 
of the data by ethnic groups, whose experience of SIL would be markedly 
different.  Councillor Bevan Powell, RBKC, and a trustee of Nubian Life, 
expressed concern regarding the impact of SIL on older, black and minority 
ethnic groups (BAME), and, health inequalities experienced by them.  It was 
agreed that a BAME data breakdown would be helpful to understand both 
need and identify barriers.   
 
Christine Smyth, from Home-Start, explained Home-Start was a small pilot 
project supporting socially isolated pregnant and new mothers living in the 
Borough.  Ms Smyth commented that working closely with the NWL Mental 
Health Trust, would help prevent the escalation of mental health issues.  They 
had identified a huge need amongst in BAME groups experiencing social 
isolation, with little or no family support networks. LGBTQ (Lesbian, Gay, 
Bisexual, Transgender Questioning/Queer) communities, socially stigmatised 
or rejected by their families, lacked support, and experienced SIL.    
 

Page 2



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

Fawad Bhatti provided brief background details, setting out the remit of the 
Commission.  A key aim had been to bring together different Council services, 
and to work with the voluntary and community sector, local businesses, and 
the CCG.  The Business Intelligent Unit (LBHF) had provided evidence based 
data, which had allowed the Commission to compile a framework of 
reference.  The Campaign to End Loneliness had facilitated workshops, 
utilising the framework and an officer group was set up to formulate a draft 
strategy, together with a draft work programme.   
 
It was recognised that the impact of social isolation resulted in the loss of a 
person’s contribution to the wider community, the loss of both skills, 
experience and knowledge.  Bryan Naylor commented that elderly men found 
it particularly difficult to engage with ‘professionals’, and anecdotally, find 
simple solutions such as lunching alone in a pub. The work of groups such as 
Community Champions provided invaluable support but there was a need to 
build stronger links with the CCG.  Vanessa Andreae acknowledged the 
evidence linking SIL with mental health issues but observed that many of 
those attending surgeries sought an opportunity to engage in conversation.  
Ian Lowry commented that social prescribing enabled GPs and clinicians to 
make direct referrals and avoid a medical intervention.  There was also a 
need for accountability, as the funds potentially available from GPs for such 
referrals came from the public purse.  It was difficult to evidence cost and link 
this to positive health outcomes.    
 
Following a question from Councillor Vaughan, Dr Payne explained that they 
had been working with the LSE to evidence the cost of care, which could be 
£12K per person, over a period of five years.  It was accepted that collecting 
data was problematic, particularly given the difficulties of evaluating projects; 
and that it was hard to attribute the impact of SIL without conducting 
longitudinal studies.  Finding a longer term, joined up approach was a funding 
and a systems issue and the impact of austerity, together with increasingly 
siloed working, overlooked the potential benefits across all services and the 
return in social investment which was much broader in terms of outcomes.  
To illustrate, Steve Miley explained that they were joining up services to ease 
transitions, establishing a new team, Preparing for Adulthood.   
 
Dr David Wingfield, GP Networks Federation observed that a lack of power 
and short-term planning further hampered development. There were 
strategies in place but it was difficult to evidence outcomes.  Councillor 
Coleman suggested a joint project between the Council and the CCG was 
required to look at the potential business case for a SIL campaign.  Councillor 
Holder observed that in terms of improving SIL outcomes, it was essential 
that BAME and LGBTQ groups were identified within the Borough. 
 
Resourcing was not limited to financial cost.  The impact of restoring a 
person’s sense of self-worth was invaluable; and smaller, group working 
better to alleviate SIL. Some age groups found that there was limited support 
available to them.  
 
Vanessa Andreae felt this had been a useful discussion and confirmed CCG 
support for the HWB's work on SIL. In terms of next steps, a task force to 

Page 3



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

asset map and identify facilities like Bishop Creighton House was suggested 
to identify different the different voluntary resources available.  In response to 
whether there were other local authorities that had achieved positive 
outcomes, in addressing SIL, it was acknowledged that this was yet to be 
evidenced; and it was acknowledged that a further challenge existed around 
commissioning ASC contracts.  
 
In the closing discussion, the following points were summarised: 
 

 That there was a SIL work programme planned to follow up the 
workshop discussions and that this would need to be refreshed; 

 The CCG would like to see clear, evidenced based outcomes; 

 That an asset mapping exercise was needed to identify voluntary and 
community based resources and facilities; and 

 That a shared approach, co-ordinated by a lead person or 
organisation, with a jointly funded post, could be feasible, subject to 
more detailed discussion. 

 
There were several events and facilities that were available to residents, but it 
was acknowledged that it was not always possible to make use of them at a 
time that was convenient to the individual.  Councillor Coleman asked that 
officers explore the opening times of the Janet Adegoke Swimming Pool, to 
investigate if opening times could be more amenable.  The North End Road 
Christmas market would be taking place shortly, together with another on 
King Street in December; and a community event hosted by White City 
Enterprise on 23 December.  In addition, a tea dance for older people was 
held three times a year, hosted at Hammersmith Town Hall and finally, the 
Council will be hosting a free Christmas meal on Christmas Day, for elderly 
and vulnerable people.   
 
RESOLVED 
 
1. That further discussions take place to agree a joint approach (aims, 

strategy, work programme and measurement) to reducing isolation and 
loneliness in Hammersmith and Fulham; 

2. That the progressed made to date by HWB members (Appendices 1 and 
be noted; 

3. That the Board note how the current range of social isolation and 
loneliness projects could be better coordinated and connected (Appendix 
and what other services may be needed; and 

4. That the Board note, alongside services, the role that individual staff 
members across a wide range of activity can play (including but not just 
front-line staff) in reducing loneliness and isolation. 

 
124. SAFEGUARDING ADULTS EXECUTIVE BOARD - ANNUAL REPORT 

2016-17  
 
Councillor Coleman welcomed Helen Banham who presented the Annual 
Report of the Safeguarding Adults Executive Board (SAEB).  The report had 
also been considered by the Health, Adult Social Care and Social Inclusion 
Policy and Accountability Committee.   

Page 4



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

 
Vanessa Andreae, commended the report which she had reviewed in her 
capacity as Chair of the CCG Quality Committee.  This was a very good 
report which provided great assurance about the work of the SAEB in the 
Borough.  During the brief discussion which followed, it was confirmed that 
the SAEB were in the process of looking at feedback and referral 
mechanisms.   
 
Councillor Coleman commented that the report was excellent and 
commended Ms Banham. On behalf of the Board, Councillor Coleman wished 
her well in her retirement, observing that her commitment, hard work and 
dedication would be greatly missed.   

 
RESOLVED 
 
That the report be noted.  
 

125. PHARMACEUTICAL NEEDS ASSESSMENT  
 
Councillor Coleman welcomed Colin Brodie and Ashlee Mulimba, who 
presented a report on the Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment (PNA).  There 
was a statutory responsibility to produce a PNA for the Borough, to ensure 
adequate provision of local pharmacy services; to better understanding the 
needs of the local population; improve access to services and to identify any 
gaps.  A 60-day period of consultation with a prescribed group of 
stakeholders would be undertaken, together with engagement with residents 
and the Council.   
 
Following a question from Councillor Carlebach, it was explained that the 
Prescribing Wisely strategy served a useful reference point for understanding 
the PNA and the provision made by local pharmacies and aimed to 
encourage patients to be more involved in decisions about their medication.  
Referencing the issue of access and gaps in provision, it was understood that 
opening hours and out hours provision would also be explored.  
 
It was agreed that the Board would write to NHS England, highlighting the 
following points: 
 

 Accessible opening hours 

 Medication and self-assessment (in the context of Prescribing Wisely) 

 End of life care 

 Alcohol and drug misuse 
 

Councillor Vaughan suggested that it would be helpful to be able identify 
where local pharmacy services could be sourced.  An interactive map or 
hyperlink on the Council or CCG’s website mapping out local pharmacists 
would be useful.   
 
Members commended the emergency support provided by local pharmacies 
during the Parsons Green station incident, noting that they would be have 
been reimbursed through NSH England.  It was suggested that pharmacies 

Page 5



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

should be included in future emergency services planning, considering the 
support they could potential provide. 

ACTION: LBHF / officers 
 
RESOLVED  
 
That the Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment report be noted.   
 

126. WORK PROGRAMME  
 
The Board noted the work programme would be subject to further discussion 
and development.   
 
 

127. DATES OF NEXT MEETINGS 
 
The next meeting of the Board was noted as 31st January 2018. 

 
Meeting started: 6.00 pm 
Meeting ended: 9.15 pm 

 
 

Chair   

 
 
 
 

Contact officer: Bathsheba Mall 
Committee Co-ordinator 
Governance and Scrutiny 

 : 020 8753 5758 
 E-mail: bathsheba.mall@lbhf.gov.uk 
 

Page 6



 

London Borough of Hammersmith & 
Fulham 

 
HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 

 

20 February 2018 
 

 

 

SOCIAL ISOLATION AND LONELINESS 
 

Report of the Cabinet Member for Health and Adult Social Care 
 

Open Report 

Classification For Decision 

Key Decision: No 
 

Wards Affected: All 
 

Accountable Executive Director: Lisa Redfern, Director of Adult Social Care 
 

Report Author: Julien Danero-Inglesias, Policy & 
Strategy Officer 
 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 020 8753 5093 
E-mail: Julien.Danero-
Iglesias@lbhf.gov.uk  

 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 
1.1. This report summarises the work undertaken so far by the Health and Wellbeing 

Board and partners to develop a strategy and action plan to address social 
isolation and loneliness in Hammersmith and Fulham. It proposed a work plan 
and way forward and updates on some of the emerging themes from 
conversations with key stakeholders. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1. The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to: 
 

 Note the themes emerging from stakeholder discussions 

 Note the proposed way forward 

 Agree to a workshop in early March to develop a strategy and action plan 
 

3. REASONS FOR DECISION 

3.1. Social isolation and loneliness require a whole systems response. The report has 
been produced to support a conversation between the Board and stakeholders to 
help ensure that a well-rounded collaborative action plan is developed. 
 

 

Page 7

Agenda Item 4

mailto:Julien.Danero-Iglesias@lbhf.gov.uk
mailto:Julien.Danero-Iglesias@lbhf.gov.uk


 
4. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND  

4.1. Anyone can experience social isolation and loneliness (SI&L)1, it can occur at any 
stage in life and can be triggered by various events and experiences such as 
pregnancy, bereavement, and unemployment. Being lonely can be as damaging 
to someone’s health as having a long-term illness. The 1.1 million of people in 
Britain estimated to be lonely are 50 per cent more likely to die prematurely than 
those with a good social network, making loneliness as big a mortality risk as 
diabetes.2 There are also substantial costs to families, the public purse and 
society at large from social isolation; some of which are potentially avoidable. 
While much can be done to strengthen the evidence base on the cost-
effectiveness of loneliness interventions, research carried out by the London 
School of Economics found that up to £3 of health care costs can be saved for 
every £1 spent on an effective intervention on loneliness.3  
 

4.2. SI&L has been at the centre of various campaigns and commissions at national 
level, such as the Campaign to end loneliness (2011) and the Jo Cox 
Commission on Loneliness (2017). Following a cross-party report by the latter, 
Tracey Crouch was appointed in January 2018 to head a government-wide group 
to work on policies connected to loneliness. 

 
4.3. In Hammersmith and Fulham, several third sector organisations have 

programmes and projects targeting different groups at risk of SI&L. The council is 
supporting some of those charities and various council services have their own 
programmes to tackle SI&L. H&F’s Older People’s Commission, launched in 
November 2017, has made of SI&L one of its core priorities. 

 
4.4. The issue has also been one of the priorities of H&F’s Social Inclusion Board. 

The board held a workshop on SI&L in April 2016 and a strategy was published 
last year with an action plan for the period 2017-20224. One of these actions was 
to ‘review what is currently available to prevent and address social isolation for 
Hammersmith and Fulham residents to identify which ‘at-risk’ groups or 
neighbourhoods are not currently sufficiently supported and address the findings.’  

 
5. BACKGROUND 

5.1 At its meeting on 21 November 2017, H&F’s Health and Wellbeing Board, chaired 
by Cllr Ben Coleman, discussed SI&L. Members of the public showed the need to 
map services and activities already available in the borough in order to identify 
gaps between what already exists in H&F that tackles SI&L and what would be 
needed to reduce it further.  

                                            
1 Social isolation describes the state of someone being deprived of social relationships that provide 

positive feedback and are meaningful to the individual while loneliness refers rather to someone’s 
perception and feeling of being isolated. 
2
 D. Campbell, ‘Loneliness as bad for health as long-term illness, says GPs' chief’, The Guardian, 12 Oct 2017. 

3
 McDaid et. al (2017) ‘Making the economic case for investing in actions to prevent and/or tackle loneliness: a 

systematic review’ London School of Economics PSSRU 
4
 The strategy can be found on H&F council’s website. 

Page 8

https://www.theguardian.com/society/2017/oct/12/loneliness-as-bad-for-health-as-long-term-illness-says-gps-chief
https://www.campaigntoendloneliness.org/resources/
https://www.campaigntoendloneliness.org/resources/
http://democracy.lbhf.gov.uk/documents/s85537/Addressing%20Social%20Isolation%20and%20Loneliness%20In%20Hammersmith%20and%20Fulham%20-%20Appendix%201%20Tackling%20social%20i.pdf


5.2 This has been taken on board and HWB supporting officers have started to carry 
out a short literature review, desk-based research and interviews with different 
stakeholders in order to answer three main questions:  

1. What is SI&L and how can we fight it? 

2. How are H&F residents affected by SI&L? 

3. What is already in place in H&F that helps tackle SI&L? 

5.3 Once these questions have been answered, the board will be able to map the 
services and identify the gaps. A workshop with all stakeholders will be organised 
in early March 2018 to put together a multi-agency response to SI&L, fill in the 
identified gaps with a practical action plan 

6. PROPOSAL AND ISSUES  

6.1. A two-step process is proposed for developing a practical action plan to tackle 
social isolation and loneliness in the borough:  

 
1st STEP – JANUARY to FEBRUARY 2018 

Objective Action 

 
Find an answer to 
3 main questions 
 
And identify 
current gaps 

 
 

 
Interviews and discussions with stakeholders in the borough 
 
 
 Short report, graphical representation of what helps 

tackle SI&L and map of what is already in place in H&F 
that helps tackle SI&L 
 

 
 Update at Health and Wellbeing Board meeting on 31/01/2018  

2nd STEP FEBRUARY-MARCH 2018 

 
Develop multi-
agency response 
to SI&L 
 

 
Workshop with all stakeholders to prepare H&F response to 
SI&L 
 
 Refresh 2017 Strategy with up-to-date action plan 

 
 New action plan to be ready by Health and Wellbeing Board meeting on 

21/03/2018 

 
7. CONSULTATION 

7.1. As of 18 January 2018, HWB supporting officers have met with the following 
stakeholders for a discussion around the three main questions: 
 

 Director at the Somalian development network Midaye, and a group of women 

living in White City; 

 Chief Executive of Nubian Life Resource Centre; 

 Funding and Development Manager at The Iranian Association; 

Page 9



 Primary Care Mental Health Advisor at HFMind; 

 Lead officer of the Disabled Peoples Commission (DPC); and 

 Befriending Project Co-ordinator at HFMind. 

 
7.2. Officers have also reached out to the Older People’s Commission and have been 

able to hear from Jill Mortimer, Policy Manager at Age UK, Bryan Naylor, chair of 
the commission, and all the commissioners. 
 

7.3. More evidence needs to be collected in order to give an answer to the three main 
questions set out above. Further interviews will take place in February and 
March: 

 

 Associate Director of Policy, Hammersmith and Fulham CCG  

 Chairman Hammersmith and Fulham GP Federation 

 Director of Adult Social Services 

 Head of Public Health Commissioning 

 West London Mental Health Trust  

 Hammersmith and Fulham Youth Mayor, Deputy Mayor and Youth MP 

 Chief Executive London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 

 Policy & Strategy Officer, Hammersmith and Fulham 

 Director for Human Resources 

 Strategic Commissioner for Behaviour Change 

 Chief Executive Sobus 

 
 

7.4. A summary of the various themes that have emerged from the discussions so far 
can be provided here: 

 
7.5. Cultural and language barriers: Cultural and language barriers prohibit 

members of different communities from getting involved with social groups, 
services and activities that may be comprised of only English-speaking 
individuals. Services for ethnic minority groups would require a familiar and 
friendly environment with familiar faces, sounds and objects.  

 
7.6. Discrimination: Discrimination is still prevalent which is preventing many people 

from BME and LGBT communities from feeling welcome when attending ‘generic’ 
activities or going to the GP. In light of this, bespoke activities are often seen as 
the only solution for different communities.  

 
7.7. Mental health: Mental health is a cause as well as an effect of SI+L, yet it might 

not always be fully recognised or understood as such. Individuals might suffer 
from mental health conditions and feel unable to attend groups within their 
community in fear of others finding out.  

 
7.8. Poverty: Poverty might lead to SI+L as individuals cannot access the same 

opportunities, social activities, and services as others. A fairer system of 
providing services seems needed. 

 

Page 10



7.9. Signposting, referrals and peer support: SI+L can be reduced through 
signposting and referrals from GP’s when appropriate. ‘Peer Support’ can also 
help tackle SI+L through helping individuals secure, retain, and progress in 
employment. 

 
7.10. The need to work together: ‘Joint up thinking’ needs to be improved to ensure 

that council departments work together and that the council, third sector 
organisations and external agencies also work together. ‘Co-production’ is 
needed to ensure that solutions address the needs of all in the borough.  

 
7.11. Befriending: Befriending services help increase social skills, confidence and 

resilience. Some feel that the current befriending services do not always work as 
many BME groups prefer solutions to come from within their community, not 
through an external body. In addition, such services find it difficult to match 
volunteers with clients suffering from some mental health conditions, particularly 
older people. This heightens isolation and loneliness as often such individuals are 
unable to cope with group activities. 

 
7.12. More interviews and discussions with other stakeholders are scheduled for 

February and will help find an answer to the three main questions and come up 
with a new action plan to tackle isolation and loneliness in H&F. 

 

8. EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 

8.1. None at this stage 
 

9. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

9.1. None at this stage 
 
 

10. FINANCIAL AND RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS 

10.1. None at this stage 
 

 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 

 

No. 
 

Description of 
Background Papers 

Name/Ext  of holder of 
file/copy 

Department/ 
Location 

1.    

 

LIST OF APPENDICES: 
None 
 

Page 11



 
 

Page 12



 

London Borough of Hammersmith & 
Fulham 

 
HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 

 
20 February 2018 

 

 

 

ROUGH SLEEPING COMMISSION 
 

Report of the Cabinet Member for Health and Adult Social Care 
 

Open Report 

Classification - For Information 
 

Key Decision: No  
 

Wards Affected: All 
 

Accountable Executive Director: Lisa Redfern, Director of Adult Social Care 
 

Report Author: Harley Collins, Health and 
Wellbeing Manager 
 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 020 8753 8753 
E-mail: 
Harley.collins@lbhf.gov.uk  

 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 
1.1. This report provides an overview of the work of the Hammersmith and Fulham 

Rough Sleeping Commission and summarises its findings (Appendix 1). It is 
provided here to support a discussion about the health and wider wellbeing 
needs of people sleeping rough in the borough and how these needs can be 
better met.  
 

1.2. The Final Report of the Rough Sleeping Commission was received by Cabinet on 
15th January where it was agreed: 
 

 That the Council welcomes the H&F Rough Sleeping Commission report’s 
findings. 

 That the Council promotes the report’s findings and recommendations to (and 
seeks to influence) central government, the Mayor of London, the H&F 
Clinical Commissioning Group and other parties to whom the 
recommendations are directed for action.  

 That officers are tasked with producing an action plan with costings, for the 
implementation of the recommendations directed at the Council.  

 
1.3. Hammersmith and Fulham CCG have also provided a considered response to 

the recommendations from the Commission that concern the national health 
service (Appendix 2). These were:  

Page 13

Agenda Item 5

mailto:Harley.collins@lbhf.gov.uk


 
1. Involve the public in tackling rough sleeping 
2. Enable and empower the voluntary sector to organise and design day 

services around the experience of people who sleep rough 
3. Ensure that there are a sufficient number of outreach workers and that 

they are empowered to support people off the street immediately 
4. Ensure that health structures within the local authority are involved in 

commissioning Housing First 
5. The NHS and Public Health should allocate budgets on a pan-London 

basis for homelessness interventions, including Housing First and housing 
led services. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1. The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to:  
 

 note the Report of the Hammersmith and Fulham Rough Sleeping 
Commission: Executive Summary and the response to it from Cabinet and the 
Hammersmith and Fulham CCG 

 consider the health and wellbeing needs of people sleeping rough in the 
borough and how these can be better met 

 
 

3. REASONS FOR DECISION 

3.1. N/A 
 
 
4. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND  

4.1. N/A 
 

5. PROPOSAL AND ISSUES  

5.1. N/A 
 

6. OPTIONS AND ANALYSIS OF OPTIONS  

6.1. N/A 
 

7. CONSULTATION 

7.1. Details of the consultation which has taken place with external bodies, the local 
community, unions, staff, partners etc. is included in the main report. Further 
details are available on request   

 

8. EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 

8.1. None at this time 

Page 14



 

9. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

9.1. None at this time  
 

 
10. FINANCIAL AND RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS 

10.1. None at this time 
 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 

 

No. 
 

Description of 
Background Papers 

Name/Ext  of holder of 
file/copy 

Department/ 
Location 

1. Report of the H&F Rough 
Sleeping Commission - 
published  
 

Rachel Casey x5474  
 

Delivery & 
Value / HTH 
Rm 102  
 

 

 
LIST OF APPENDICES: 
 
Appendix 1: Ending Rough Sleeping in Hammersmith & Fulham. Report of the 
Hammersmith and Fulham Rough Sleeping Commission: An Executive Summary 
 
Appendix 2: CCG Response to Rough Sleepers Commission Report 
 
 

 
 

Page 15



 

 

 

 

Ending Rough Sleeping in 

Hammersmith & Fulham 

 

Report of the Hammersmith and Fulham Rough 

Sleeping Commission: An Executive Summary 

 

Prepared for Health and Wellbeing Board Meeting  

31
st

 January 2018 

  

Page 16



1 Background 

1.1 Hammersmith and Fulham (H&F) Council is committed to significantly reducing 
the number of people in the borough rough sleeping and to preventing people 
from sleeping rough in the first place. The Rough Sleeping Commission was 
established in January 2017 to help meet this objective and to develop ground-
breaking new policies with the goal of reducing the number of rough sleepers to 
zero. 

1.2 The expert-led Commission was chaired by Jon Sparkes, the Chief Executive 
of the national homelessness charity Crisis and its membership included a 
range of homelessness organisations within H&F (see Appendix B for full 
membership details). 

1.3 The H&F Rough Sleeping Commission set out to:  
a) Review and identify areas of good practice in services provided to rough 

sleepers and those at risk of rough sleeping both in the UK and 
internationally;  

b) Review H&F service provision against good practice to identify gaps in 
current provision;  

c) Formulate recommendations for interventions and/or service redesign, to 
deliver better outcomes for people that are rough sleeping in H&F, to 
support those at risk of rough sleeping and to reduce the number of rough 
sleepers down to zero.  
 

1.4 The Commission met monthly and received support from council officers and 
experts in the field. It’s first step was to conduct a literature review to inform it’s 
understanding of best practice approaches to tackling rough sleeping from 
around the world. As part of this Commission members visited a range of rough 
sleeping services across London. 
 

1.5 In April and May, the Commission issued a call for written evidence to gather 
the views of external experts and to identify examples of good practice. The 
Commission then held a series of verbal evidence giving sessions which took 
place in June and took verbal evidence from key stakeholders and experts on 
the causes and potential solutions to rough sleeping in H&F. A key element of 
this phase of the work was to hear directly from people who are, or are at risk 
of, sleeping rough in H&F. Groundswell1 were commissioned to enable people 
with experience of homelessness to contribute to the Commission and they 
engaged 108 people through their research.  

 

1.6 A Frontline Worker session was held in June bringing together staff from 
projects in H&F that work with people who have experienced rough sleeping to 
explore the causes and solutions to homelessness. Between July and 
September, the Commission began to shape and formulate its 
recommendations from the wide range of evidence it had gathered.  

 
                                                           
1
 Groundswell is a registered charity that supports homeless and vulnerable people towards independence with client 

involvement at its core enabling people to have a greater influence on services by delivering innovative projects which put 
homeless people at the heart of solutions.  

Page 17



2 Evidence 

2.1 Rough sleeping is defined by the Government as ‘people sleeping, or bedded 
down, in the open air (such as on the streets, or in doorways, parks or bus 
shelters); people in buildings or other places not designed for habitation (such 
as barns, sheds, car parks, cars, derelict boats, stations, or ‘bashes’)’. 
  

2.2 In 2016/17, 246 people were seen sleeping rough in the borough2, representing 
an overall increase of 2% on the previous year. A similar trend was seen across 
London boroughs over the period. Sixty-one per cent (151) of people seen by 
outreach teams were new to rough sleeping and were not seen prior to 
2016/17. Twenty-eight per cent (68) were also seen sleeping rough in 2015/16. 
Eleven per cent (27) had previously slept rough, and had now returned to the 
streets (returners).3 This indicates that if there had been an intervention in 
place, it may have broken down.  

 

2.3 81% (123) of people who were new to the streets did not sleep rough for a 
second night and this can likely be linked to the success of the No Second 
Night Out (NSNO) project. However, people are still missed including those 
worried that contact with NSNO will mean a reconnection back to their 
originating country. 

 

2.4 There has been an increase of new rough sleepers in H&F choosing to leave 
short to medium-term accommodation as well as an increase in the numbers of 
rough sleepers who have been asked to leave or have been evicted. There is a 
general trend across London and England showing that the leading cause of 
homelessness is the ending of an Assured Shorthold Tenancy (AST) in the 
private rented sector. In England, the ending of an AST accounts for 74% of the 
growth in households who qualify for temporary accommodation since 
2009/10.4 This indicates that affordability is an increasingly significant issue as 
more households facing the end of a private tenancy are unable to find 
alternative accommodation without assistance. Since 2010, the cost of 
accommodation in the PRS has risen three times faster than earnings across 
England. In London, the increase was eight times higher. 

 

2.5 In the past year there has also been a rise in the number of UK nationals and a 
decrease in the number of Central and Eastern European nationals rough 
sleeping. The Commission considered changes to Home Office policy on EEA 
removals and UK net migration targets as contributing factors to these 
changes.  

 

3 Findings and Recommendations 

3.1 The Commission generated a wide range of evidence in relation to rough 
sleeping in H&F as well as 30 recommendations (Appendix A) on how to 

                                                           
2
 CHAIN Annual Report Hammersmith & Fulham, April 2016 – March 2017.  

3
 The flow, stock and returner model categorises people seen rough sleeping in the year according to whether they have also 

been seen rough sleeping in previous periods.  
4
DCLG (2017) Statutory Homelessness and Prevention and Relief Statistical Release, January to March 2017. 

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/621556/Statutory_Homelessness_and_Preventio
n_and_Relief_Statistical_Release_January_to_March_2017_corrected.pdf 

Page 18

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/621556/Statutory_Homelessness_and_Prevention_and_Relief_Statistical_Release_January_to_March_2017_corrected.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/621556/Statutory_Homelessness_and_Prevention_and_Relief_Statistical_Release_January_to_March_2017_corrected.pdf


reduce the numbers rough sleeping to zero. The Commission’s  
recommendations are directed towards organisations operating at the local, 
regional and national levels. 
 

3.2 Peer researchers from Groundswell engaged with 108 people who were 
homeless at the time or who had slept rough in H&F in the past. The rough 
sleepers they spoke with told them that none of them wanted to sleep rough 
and only a very small number of those interviewed (2 of 108) wanted to live in a 
hostel. What they overwhelmingly said they needed to stop sleeping rough was 
stable and affordable homes. Rough sleepers also told Groundswell that 
cutbacks in funding to services and higher thresholds for support meant they 
were no longer getting services that meet neds. Cut backs to wider support 
services such as counselling, debt/money management advice and drug and 
alcohol services were also having an impact. Rough sleepers talked about the 
importance of day centres for getting food, a shower or charging their phones 
but that cut backs to day centre opening hours made accessing these vital 
services difficult and particularly problematic for people with complex needs. 

 

3.3 Rough sleepers spoke about the role of the welfare system in triggering and 
perpetuating homelessness. The six-week assessment process and seven day 
waiting period for Universal Credit combined with delays made it difficult to 
maintain rent and bill payments and were the cause of many tenants’ arrears.  
The capping and freezing of Local Housing Allowance (LHA) rates – used to 
calculate housing benefit entitlements – was also making it difficult to find and 
sustain affordable accommodation in the borough. The Valuation Office Agency 
calculations for 2016/17 show that for the broad rental market area of Inner 
West London, there is a shortfall of £32 for one room, £178 for one bed, £160 
for two bed, £333 for three bed and £786 for four bed properties. 

 

3.4 The Commission’s research also raised issues around a variety of areas 
including the affordability, security and condition of accommodation in the 
private rented sector (PRS) and the lack of move-on options available in 
hostels. It found proving a local connection to the borough to be a significant 
barrier to accessing statutory and non-statutory homelessness services and 
found significant numbers of EEA nationals and people with no recourse to 
public funds utilising emergency winter shelters. In these latter cases, people 
required urgent immigration advice to resolve their status and move out of 
destitution. The frontline worker sessions found there was generally a lack of 
support for asylum seekers, EEA nationals and people with insecure 
immigration status. 

 

3.5 The Groundswell research also found that there were often many missed 
opportunities to intervene and prevent people who were at risk of rough 
sleeping from becoming rough sleepers. For instance, 66% of people 
interviewed had been in touch with Housing Options and many had come into 
contact with hospitals, GPs and probation services before they slept rough. 

 

3.6 The Commission’s recommendations are grouped around four themes. Firstly, 
they (1) advocate a strong prevention framework to prevent people sleeping 
rough happening in the first place; (2) argue for a strong emergency response 

Page 19



when people do find themselves sleeping rough; (3) argue for housing led 
approaches (such as Housing First) that settle people quickly into long-term 
accommodation with access to support; and (4) recommend that the 
responsible authorities ensure there is adequate supply of affordable housing 
for rough sleepers and those at risk of rough sleeping.  
 

Page 20



Appendix A: Recommendations 

Section Recommendations For action by 

1) Implement 
a stronger 
prevention 
framework 
across 
organisatio
ns in H&F 
 

1) Ensure that everyone at risk of sleeping rough is accommodated by adopting a No 

First Night Out approach. Based on the evidence taken from the No First Night Out project 

in the London Boroughs of Hackney, Tower Hamlets & the City of London Corporation, the 

Commission recommends that H&F implement a similar approach based on research about 

the routes into homelessness for various cohorts. The overall aim of this approach should 

be to ensure that anyone at risk of sleeping rough is provided with some form of temporary 

accommodation, and no one in this situation is turned away by the local authority without 

having their homelessness resolved. As well as those at risk of sleeping rough, this offer 

should be made to people already rough sleeping. To support the delivery of this approach, 

H&F should invest in training for frontline housing and homelessness teams to ensure that 

they are applying a personalised and creative approach to tackling homelessness.  

 
2) Involve the public in tackling rough sleeping. There are numerous places that people go 

when they are sleeping rough or are at risk of sleeping rough, but where they are not 

currently able to access housing advice. These might include places of worship, libraries 

and GP practices. The Council may wish to hold a ‘Rough Sleeping Hackathon’ involving 

community and voluntary organisations to engage the public around raising awareness of 

rough sleeping and involving them in generating and implementing solutions. This would 

also help ensure these organisations and individuals across the borough are better able to 

sign post people to the appropriate advice and services. The H&F Homelessness Forum 

could be used as the vehicle to engage the community, voluntary and faith sector. 

 
3) Ensure no one sleeps rough when they leave prison by working jointly with local 

prisons and probation teams to review existing referral systems and processes. In the 

The Council 

P
age 21



run up to the introduction of the Homelessness Reduction Act, H&F should look specifically 

at how prisoners are identified as having a housing need and how they are referred to the 

prison housing teams well in advance of their release date.  

 

4) Provide urgent support to private tenants who are at risk of sleeping rough. H&F 

should ensure that tenants who are renting privately and deemed at risk of rough sleeping 

or losing their home can easily access Discretionary Housing Payments (DHPs), whether 

this be through targeted promotion to tenants and landlords or through the SLA. There has 

been a significant increase in PRS rents, which is leaving a shortfall that cannot be met by 

any other intervention. H&F should review internal processes to ensure that anyone 

approaching the Council who is facing financial difficulty, regardless of which team they 

approach (e.g. Housing Benefit, Housing Options or council tax), should be assisted to 

make an application for a DHP if they are at risk of, or have already accrued, rent arrears.  

 
5) Ensure that people are not made homeless as a result of being evicted from social 

housing. H&F should carry out a full review of housing association and council eviction 

policies to ensure accommodation is not lost. H&F should work with housing providers in the 

borough to put in place effective early notification and response arrangements where 

housing association tenants are at risk of tenancy failure and to ensure that a joint 

landlord/Housing Options approach is adopted to working with the tenant to prevent 

homelessness. This might include referral to routine multi-agency panel meetings to review 

cases and develop person-centred plans to prevent homelessness in individual cases. 

 

 6) The GLA should put in place a pan-London approach to protect people who are 

homeless from having their benefits sanctioned. The GLA should help coordinate the 

DWP, local Jobcentre Plus (JCPs) and London local authorities to work together to offer 

protection from sanctioning for people rough sleeping or at immediate risk of homelessness. 

There must be a contactable link within the DWP who has the power to halt or change a 

The GLA and 
regional bodies 

P
age 22



sanctioning decision and a process whereby the local authority is notified prior to 

sanctioning to check someone’s current housing and welfare status. The effect of 

sanctioning has been identified as both a cause and contributory factor of homelessness.  

 

7) The GLA should ensure that sufficient help is put in place for people moving onto 

Universal Credit. As Universal Credit is rolled out across London, the GLA should help 

facilitate the work between London local authorities and JCPs to ensure that vulnerable 

groups are properly supported to move onto Universal Credit. This work should focus 

specifically on ensuring that JCPs are well connected to local housing and homelessness 

teams and flagged as quickly as possible if there is any risk of homelessness so that the 

appropriate support package is put in place. 

 
8) The GLA should ensure that everyone at risk of sleeping rough is accommodated by 

supporting all London local authorities to adopt a No First Night Out approach. A pan 

London adoption of this approach will help to ensure that no one council is overburdened by 

high demand.  

 

 9) The Government should increase the level of funding needed to successfully 

implement the Homelessness Reduction Act. The current level of funding is not sufficient 

for the local authority to meet the increased level of demand. H&F estimates that the 

financial impact of the Homelessness Reduction Act implementation will result in an 

increase of demand and workload of at least 50%. 

 

10) The DWP needs to work better with JCPs to ensure that they have better training, and 

understanding of, homelessness and housing related matters and the consequences 

of sanctioning someone who is homeless. Training for work coaches on housing issues 

should be integral in this awareness raising.  

HM 
Government 

P
age 23



 
11) The MoJ should obligate prison Governors to introduce integrated transition plans 

for all prisoners and introduce measurable housing outcomes for Community 

Rehabilitation Companies (CRCs). This will ensure that prisoners are fully supported upon 

their release from prison.  

2) Emergency 
response 

 

12) Enable and empower the voluntary sector to organise and design day services 

around the experience of people who sleep rough. H&F should take a greater role in 

working with the voluntary sector to help better coordinate the provision of day services for 

people sleeping rough to ensure that the complexity of need is sufficiently met. Crucially the 

design and coordination of services should be centred around the experience of rough 

sleepers, particularly with regards to opening times and the nature of the support provided.   

 
13) Ensure that there are a sufficient number of outreach workers and that they are 

empowered to support people off the street immediately. H&F should commission a 

greater number of outreach staff and ensure that they are sufficiently empowered to support 

people who are sleeping rough off the streets, even if they do not necessarily qualify for a 

NSNO offer. Future specification for the commission of outreach teams should ensure that 

health, drug and alcohol services are commissioned and funded to dovetail with outreach 

provision. These outreach teams should not only be commissioned to deliver services for 

people who are new to the streets, but also to undertake potentially more intensive work 

with people who have entrenched needs. Mental health and substance misuse trained 

outreach workers should be specifically commissioned to provide emergency specialist 

support on the streets. Improved partnership working with the H&F Clinical Commissioning 

Group should lead to better health outcomes for rough sleepers. As will ensuring that rough 

sleeping is considered by the Health & Wellbeing Board. 

 
14) Provide more legal advice for people who are, or are at risk of, sleeping rough. H&F 

should extend the commission of Street Legal within H&F. The service provides specialist 

The Council 

P
age 24



legal advice for people with NRPF to regularise their status and get them the right help and 

support alongside the provision of emergency bed spaces.  

 
15) Make sure that people who cannot access hostels have somewhere safe to stay. H&F 

should assess the need for, and design a ‘crash pad’ service targeted at people who 

struggle to access hostel accommodation. This should be designed to include people who 

have limited or NRPF, people who struggle to prove that they have a local connection to 

H&F, and those who have been barred from the hostel system (e.g. due to rent arrears or 

antisocial behaviour). The crash pads should be designed to provide people with a safe 

space where they can access support services and move into hostels or permanent 

accommodation. H&F should also work with faith based and other community based 

organisations to help increase the availability of open-access provision so nobody is forced 

to spend nights sleeping rough 

 16) Government should suspend the removal of EEA migrant rough sleepers to their 

country of origin until there has been a full review of Home Office Guidance on EEA 

administrative removal regulation. Without greater transparency on this policy, there is no 

way of establishing the consequences of the removal on the individual.   

 

HM 
Government 

3) Housing 
First and 
Housing-
Led 
Approaches 

 

17) Adopt a housing-led approach for people at risk of rough sleeping and people living 

in hostels, including a Housing First offer for people with multiple and complex 

needs. H&F should implement a Housing First approach for rough sleepers, people at risk 

of rough sleeping and people living in hostels, who have multiple and complex needs as the 

default option to ending their homelessness. We estimate that 68% of all rough sleepers, 

based on CHAIN data, have high and/ or multiple complex needs and would be eligible for a 

Housing First offer.  

 
Based on the Homeless Link report, the current scope of Housing First projects house 10-
20% of their rough sleeping cohort. Based on this, the Council should aspire to set up at 

The Council 

P
age 25



least 15-20 placements (estimate) and set targets for the implementation of Housing First by 
default.   

 
The Commission took evidence from H&F’s Looked After Children’s service and found an 
excellent model of best practice with regards to an unconditional and open-ended model of 
support provided to care leavers. Out of a cohort of 185 there were no Looked After 
Children (LAC) or care leavers experiencing homelessness. The Commission recommends 
that the council should adopt a similar support model for Housing First.   

 
The Council should conduct a feasibility study similar to that in the Liverpool City Region to 
assess the longer-term savings against the roll out cost and the implementation of Housing 
First for people with complex needs and a housing led approach for people with lower 
support needs.  

 
There is likely to be a two-year period of ‘double running’ of services. Thereafter the Council 
can look to decommission a proportion of hostel services and invest this funding into 
Housing First in year three and four. The Commission recommends that hostel provision 
should only be commissioned as emergency provision with a focus on move-on.  

 
18) Ensure that homes are made available in the private and social rented sector for 

people who are made a Housing First offer. H&F should explore the use of the PRS 

using the H&F SLA to secure accommodation for Housing First clients. It has been 

demonstrated that the PRS can help to successfully deliver Housing First, relieving pressure 

on social rented stock and housing people more quickly.  

19) Ensure that health structures within the local authority are involved in 

commissioning Housing First.  Housing First is not only a solution to rough sleeping and 

homelessness, but also addresses a range of other support needs including mental health 

and substance misuse. The Commission therefore recommends that services are not purely 

commissioned and funded by H&F housing and homelessness teams, but in collaboration 

with Health and Wellbeing Boards and Clinical Commissioning Groups.   

P
age 26



20) Implement a housing led approach to move people with lower support needs out of 

hostels and into settled housing as quickly as possible. H&F should ensure that move 

on plans from hostels aim to make it easier and faster for someone to ultimately move into 

independent living. These are currently completed on individual needs basis and constantly 

reviewed. There is no minimum or maximum time limit. With housing led approaches, whilst 

someone might not need an intense package of support they might require some tenancy 

support. This could be done through the SLA.  

21) Engage homeless people and people with experience of homelessness in 

commissioning and delivering services. The Commission recognises the value added by 

peer-mentoring to homelessness services. It is therefore recommended that H&F include a 

requirement to provide a peer mentoring service in homelessness services, including 

Housing First. Involving (including employing) more people with experience of 

homelessness will provide a vital opportunity for people that have used services to give 

something back and support the rough sleeper to navigate the avenues of support available. 

 

 22) The Government should provide additional funding at a realistic level for Housing 

First implementation. This will allow for a smooth transition from a hostel based system to 

a housing led approach so there is no drop off in services. Over the period of scaling up 

Housing First provision there will be double running costs until the council begins to 

decommission some bed spaces in hostels. 

 
23) The NHS and Public Health England should allocate budgets on a pan-London basis 

for homelessness interventions, including Housing First and housing led services. 

The NHS is a major point of contact for rough sleepers. Housing First is not just about 

tenancy sustainment but also focuses on tackling drug, alcohol and mental health issues. 

HM 
Government 

4) Ensuring 
access and 

24) Ensure that rough sleepers are not unfairly blocked from accessing social housing. 

H&F needs to negotiate with / apply pressure on housing associations (Registered 

The Council 

P
age 27



adequate 
supply of 
secure and 
affordable 
housing for 
rough 
sleepers 
and those 
at 
immediate 
risk of 
rough 
sleeping 

 

Providers) to review and change their allocations policies to make sure that rough sleepers 

are not unfairly excluded, for example, because of time spent in prison or previous financial 

difficulty. 

 
25) Make sure social housing is provided for people who are made a Housing First offer. 

H&F should ring fence a portion of social housing for people who have slept rough, including 

those made a Housing First offer so it is readily available once a client has been identified 

and assessed. Based on the estimated number of Housing First placements, approximately 

ten could be ring-fenced for Housing First by the Council from its stock. The rest could be 

sourced from housing associations and private rented stock via the SLA. 

 
26) Provide shared accommodation solutions for young adults. H&F should seek to 

increase the supply of affordable shared accommodation for under 35s. This could be 

achieved by converting existing properties or building new shared accommodation. The 

extension of the SAR has had a negative impact on the affordability of accommodation for 

people under the age of 35 and in turn accessibility of the PRS. If a rough sleeper is under 

35 and is not exempt from the rule, they are not entitled to claim the benefit rate for one-

bedroom self-contained accommodation.  

 
27) Make sure that regeneration and development provides more housing solutions for 

homeless people. H&F should, where possible, ringfence a portion of housing 

development as part of regeneration and planning initiatives (e.g. the new Hammersmith 

Town Hall development) specifically for the provision of stock for Housing First and housing 

led tenancies. The Council should explore how Section 106 could be used most effectively 

to deliver homes at social rents specifically for the provision of housing units for rough 

sleepers and people who have experience of, or are at risk of, homelessness.  

 

 28) The Government should undertake a review of Local Housing Allowance (LHA) rates HM 

P
age 28



to reduce the gap between Housing Benefit and affordable (market) rents to improve 

access to homes. 

 

29) The Government should reassess the Housing and Planning Act 2016’s impact on 

social housing. Evidence taken indicates that currently national policy is undermining the 

supply of social housing.  

 
30) The Government should increase the grant for social house building. The Housing and 

Planning Act 2016 widens the definition of ‘affordable housing’ to include Starter Homes, 

which is likely to be prioritised above genuinely affordable homes such as social housing 

and other forms of low cost housing. As a result, the policy will lead to a further decline of 

genuinely affordable housing for people who have experienced, or are at risk of, 

homelessness.   

 

Government 

P
age 29



Appendix B: The Rough Sleeping Commission  

Membership 

 Michael Angus, Director, Barons Court Project 

 Michael Buraimoh, Operations Director, The Upper Room  

 Steven Platts, Senior Project Manager, Glass Door  

 Thomas Neumark, Chief Executive, The Peel Institute  

 Paul Doe, Chief Executive, Shepherd’s Bush Housing Group5  

Terms of Reference 

 Identify the scale and nature of rough sleeping in H&F using available data and 

intelligence.  

 Conduct a review of the available literature on rough sleeping, drawing on studies 

and commissions from elsewhere in London and the UK, and, where directly 

relevant, internationally. 

 Call for written evidence from leading experts, policy makers and practitioners 

and explore this through a series of thematic oral hearings. 

 Call for evidence from local third sector, council funded and independent service 

providers including those providing services to those at risk of rough sleeping. 

 Obtain evidence from residents who have interacted with the Council’s current 

rough sleeping services and who are part of the Housing First pilot. 

 Identify key principles on which to base services for rough sleepers and those at 

risk of rough sleeping. 

 Make recommendations to the Council on how best to support rough sleepers 

and prevent those at risk of becoming rough sleepers. 

 Propose interventions and potentially service redesign for implementation locally, 

or more widely, that will help people that are rough sleeping.  

 

 

 

 

                                                           
5
 (*Matt Campion, joined the Commission in June 2017 as a representative of the SBHG in place of Paul Doe who retired from 

this position). 

Page 30



 
15 Marylebone Road 

London NW1 5JD 

Tel:  020 3350 4514 

 

 

18
th

 January 2018 

Harley Collins  

Health and Wellbeing Manager  

Adult Social Care and Health  

Hammersmith Town Hall,  

King Street,  

London,  

W6 9JU 

 

Dear Harley,  

 

Re:  Hammersmith and Fulham Rough Sleeping Commission Report 

 

Thank you for providing the CCG with an opportunity to respond to the council’s Rough 

Sleeping Commission Report. The report addresses a number of key priority areas across the 

system. The CCG has identified improving the health outcomes for our Homeless population 

as a key priority. We know that homeless people often find it difficult to manage their own 

health conditions due to their chaotic lives, low literacy, poor access and, regrettably, 

hostility from health professionals. The impact of this is clear with the average member of 

the homeless population expected to live for 43-47 years, compared to 80-84 for the 

general population. As such homeless people are significant users of NHS unplanned 

services such as ambulances, A&E and non-elective admissions. Outlined below is the CCG’s 

response to key health issues outlined within the report. 

 

Involve the public in tackling rough sleeping.  

There are numerous places that people go when they are sleeping rough or are at risk of 

sleeping rough, but are not currently able to access housing advice. These might include 

places of worship, libraries and GP practices. The Council may wish to hold a ‘Rough Sleeping 

Hackathon’ involving community and voluntary organisations to engage the public around 

raising awareness of rough sleeping and involving them in generating and implementing 

solutions. This would also help ensure these organisations and individuals across the 

borough are better able to sign post people to the appropriate advice and services. The H&F 

Homelessness Forum could be used as the vehicle to engage the community, voluntary and 

faith sector. 

H&F CCG agree that increased awareness and understanding of the needs of the homeless 

population is crucial to enabling them to access the appropriate advice and services. We 

have an Out of Hospital Homeless Service delivered by the GP Federation to support our 

Page 31



 
strategic commissioning intentions to reduce health inequalities by improving the health, 

health care and social inclusion of homeless populations. The service aims to do this by: 

• Increasing access to GP registration 

• Reducing inappropriate A&E attendances 

• Reducing unplanned admissions 

• Ensuring patient access to the appropriate services 

• Increasing the proportion of homeless people in drug treatment programmes where 

appropriate 

• Increasing the proportion of homeless people successfully sustaining or completing 

treatment 

• Recording reductions in alcohol intake 

• Increasing use of mental health services by the people on the register 

• Increasing vaccination coverage for the homeless for TB, Hep B, influenza and 

pneumococcus where clinically indicated. 

• Improving rates of childhood immunisations in homeless families 

• Carrying out health checks when clinically indicated 

• Providing a local community Outreach health care service  

We supported the roll out of the ‘‘My right to access healthcare” cards that supports 

homeless people register and receive treatment at our GP practices and widely promoted 

the free online training course for GP receptionists and practice managers which covers 

specific issues faced by patients who are homeless. 

 

We commission a pilot peripatetic nurse service. This service delivers a range of nurse-led 

early interventions such as holistic assessments, care planning, health checks, screening, 

immunisations, nurse led prescribing and wound management. In addition the service also 

delivers a number of non-clinical interventions such as leading and facilitating monthly pilot 

steering group meetings, developing links with hostel staff, onward referrals, developing 

pathways, partnership working with other local health and care services such as primary 

care and community health services, and introducing other healthcare initiatives for 

homeless people such as healthy lunch and hostel fruit bowls. 

 

We look forward to participating in a Hackathon when planned, with a view to co-producing 

innovative solutions to the problem, and to promote this opportunity to local healthcare 

providers.  

 

Emergency Response 

 

Page 32



 
Enable and empower the voluntary sector to organise and design day services around the 

experience of people who sleep rough. H&F should take a greater role in working with the 

voluntary sector to help better coordinate the provision of day services for people sleeping 

rough to ensure that the complexity of need is sufficiently met. Crucially the design and 

coordination of services should be centred around the experience of rough sleepers, 

particularly with regards to opening times and the nature of the support provided.   

H&F CCG support LBHF to work closer with the voluntary sector to improve day service 

provision for people sleeping rough.  

 

Ensure that there are a sufficient number of outreach workers and that they are 

empowered to support people off the street immediately. H&F should commission a 

greater number of outreach staff and ensure that they are sufficiently empowered to 

support people who are sleeping rough off the streets, even if they do not necessarily qualify 

for a No Second Night Out (NSNO) offer. Future specification for the commission of outreach 

teams should ensure that health, drug and alcohol services are commissioned and funded to 

dovetail with outreach provision. These outreach teams should not only be commissioned to 

deliver services for people who are new to the streets, but also to undertake potentially more 

intensive work with people who have entrenched needs. Mental health and substance 

misuse trained outreach workers should be specifically commissioned to provide emergency 

specialist support on the streets. Improved partnership working with the H&F Clinical 

Commissioning Group should lead to better health outcomes for rough sleepers. As will 

ensuring that rough sleeping is considered by the Health & Wellbeing Board. 

We recognise the complex health needs of the homeless population, including mental 

health and substance misuse problems. NHS mental health services are designed to be 

flexible and responsive to the needs of all individuals.  For example the introduction of the 

Single Point of Access (SPA) means referrals can be made 24 hours a day, and they accept 

self-referrals as well as referrals from many other sources including support workers, police 

and council workers.  Mental health teams work collaboratively with other providers such as 

EASL, and Groundswell, to support homeless people to engage in accessing services.  Barons 

Court provides support to homeless people with mental health problems . The Out of 

Hospitals Mental Health provision and Primary Care Mental Health Service means that 

support is available for common mental health conditions through GPs and Primary Care 

Mental Health Workers.  

 

Housing First and Housing Led Approaches 

 

Ensure that health structures within the local authority are involved in commissioning 

Housing First.  Housing First is not only a solution to rough sleeping and homelessness, but 

also addresses a range of other support needs including mental health and substance 

misuse. The Commission therefore recommends that services are not purely commissioned 

and funded by H&F housing and homelessness teams, but in collaboration with Health and 

Wellbeing Boards and Clinical Commissioning Groups.   

Page 33



 
The CCG supports the assertion that homelessness and health are closely interlinked and as 

such we recognise that there is further work to be done across this area within available 

resources which we believe would benefit from a multi-agency approach. 

 

For action by the Government 

The NHS and Public Health should allocate budgets on a pan-London basis for 

homelessness interventions, including Housing First and housing led services. The NHS is a 

major point of contact for rough sleepers. Housing First not just about tenancy sustainment 

but also focuses on tackling drug, alcohol and mental health issues. 

The CCG agrees that, if a significant change is going to be made to the services we 

commission for Homeless Health, this would benefit from a pan-London approach. 

However, as was set out in the Five Year Forward View the NHS is facing significant 

challenges to the system through various factors including a growing & ageing population; 

people now living longer with more complex health needs. In NW London there remains 

significant pressure on the whole system. Both the NHS and our partners in local 

government need to find ways of providing care for our ageing population and managing 

increasing demand within the constraints of the challenging financial climate.  

 

H&F CCG look forward to working with our local authority partners in progressing the Rough 

Sleeper Commission Report recommendations. 

 

Yours faithfully 

 

 

        
 

Helen Lipinski                                 Vanessa Andreae 

Project Manager, H&F CCG                               Vice-Chair, H&F CCG    

     

 

 

Page 34


	Agenda
	1 Minutes and Actions
	4 Tackling Social Isolation and Loneliness
	5 Meeting the Health and Wellbeing Needs of Rough Sleepers
	Meeting the Health and Wellbeing Needs of Rough Sleepers
	Meeting the Health and Wellbeing Needs of Rough Sleepers - CCG Response to Rough Sleepers Commission report


